067

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID WHITE

SEP 1/23 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

PETER BRUNETTI,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. 78,535

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Governmental Center/9th Floor
301 North Olive Avenue
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

ALLEN J. DeWEESE Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida, and the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecution in the circuit court and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as Petitioner and Respondent.

The following symbol will be used:

R = Record on Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged, along with co-defendants Rocco Ilaria, Mike Bocchino, and Terry Kennerknecht, with trafficking in cocaine over 400 grams and conspiracy to traffic (R 277). Petitioner and Bocchino and Kennerknecht were tried together. Ilaria testified for the state (R 1046). Bocchino was granted judgment of acquittal at the conclusion of the state's case (R 2077). Petitioner was convicted of conspiracy but the jury was unable to reach a verdict on the trafficking (R 2752, 2782, 2783). The jury was unable to reach any verdict on Kennerknecht (R 2752).

Petitioner appealed his conviction to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which affirmed on two issues, the standard jury instruction placing the burden on the defense to prove entrapment, and the limitation of voir dire. The opinion was filed July 10, 1991 (Appendix to this brief).

A timely motion for certification was filed, and by order of August 22, 1991, the District Court certified the following question (Appendix):

Do Instructions 3.04(c)(2), Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, and Section 777.201(2), Florida Statutes (1989), both applicable to offenses after 1987, unconstitutionally shift the burden to the defense to prove entrapment?

Notice of intent to invoke discretionary jurisdiction was filed August 23, 1991.

By order of September 11, 1991, this Court ordered briefing on the merits but postponed its decision on jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Entrapment.

Petitioner claimed at his trial that he was entrapped (R 2048, 2088, 2097). At the jury charge conference, the defense objected to the new standard jury instruction on entrapment, arguing that it unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof to the defense (R 2393-2398). The defense submitted a written special requested instruction, which was denied by the court, worded as follows (R 2408-2410, 2781):

On the issue of entrapment, the State must convince you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not entrapped.

The defense's objection was renewed at several points (R 2622, 2673).

The court instructed the jury as follows on the burden of proof and entrapment (R 2654):

On the issue of entrapment, the Defendant must prove to you by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of entrapment.

The complete jury instructions given on entrapment, burden of proof and reasonable doubt are included in the Appendix to this brief.

During deliberations, the jury asked several questions about entrapment. They were reinstructed three times on entrapment, including the portion objected to by the defense, quoted above, concerning burden of proof. The defense renewed its objection after each reinstruction (R 2684, 2689, 2698-2707, 2714, 2719-2721, 2725).

B. Trial Evidence.

The main witnesses at Petitioner's trial were Rocco Ilaria, the co-defendant, and Detective Medley, an undercover officer who participated in the alleged cocaine negotiations. Ilaria had pled guilty to trafficking and conspiracy and was expecting, with a favorable recommendation from the state, a reduced sentence (R 1048-1051).

Ilaria testified that he worked as a car salesman at a lot named Everything Automotive, where the arrests and the seizure of Ilaria had known the cocaine eventually occurred (R 1047). Petitioner and the other co-defendants, Mike Bocchino and Terry Kennerknecht (who owned another car lot named Prestigious Motor Cars) for some time (R 1052-1056). Ilaria testified that two weeks before they were all arrested Petitioner telephoned and then went to Everything Automotive, saying that he was looking for a At the lot Petitioner asked if Ilaria could help him: Petitioner had friends who were looking to purchase cocaine and he wanted Ilaria to help. Ilaria shrugged the question off, but Petitioner phoned again the next day and asked again. didn't think he wanted to be involved, but Petitioner asked him to look around and see what he could do. There were several more phone calls (R 1057, 1071-1077).

A few days later Petitioner returned to the lot. Ilaria agreed to meet Petitioner's friend at the Raw Bar. At the bar, Petitioner introduced his friend as Carmine (R 1077-1078). Carmine turned out to be a police confidential informant, whose full name was Rocco Carmine Scarfone (R 1807). Carmine said he was looking for five kilos of cocaine and offered \$20,000 per kilo. Ilaria

said he didn't know if he could help out, but he would think about it (R 1079-1081).

Petitioner called Ilaria several times during the next few days. Ilaria agreed to a new meeting with Carmine at the Raw Bar. It took place two days before the arrests (R 1081-1084). Ilaria told Carmine he still hadn't found anything out about the cocaine. Carmine admired Ilaria's car and said he might buy it after the cocaine transaction (R 1085-1086).

Afterwards, Ilaria drove Petitioner home. Petitioner said he needed money. Ilaria said that if he could find the cocaine for Petitioner he could probably swing a couple of thousand dollars Petitioner's way (R 1086-1087).

Ilaria started asking around about cocaine. Someone mentioned Kennerkneht, and Ilaria called him. Ilaria went over to Kennerknecht's shop and told him he had some friends interested in cocaine. Kennerknecht said he would see what he could do (R 1087-1090). Ilaria and Kennerknecht had a second meeting, where Ilaria said his friends wanted five kilos and Kennerknecht said he would look into it (R 1092-1093). Later, Kennerknecht stated he could supply the cocaine for \$16,000 to \$17,000 per kilo. At this point Ilaria also told Kennerknecht he might have a buyer for his Corvette; at the Raw Bar meeting Carmine had told Ilaria that he was looking for one (R 1094-1096).

Ilaria spoke with Carmine to schedule the deal, and with Petitioner several more times (R 1097). The day before the arrests, Ilaria went to Kennerknecht's shop to try to set the deal up for that day. He told Kennerknecht he wanted to do two kilos. Kennerknecht showed Ilaria a compartment in a car where he would

put the cocaine. Ilaria then went over to Petitioner's and called Carmine who said, however, that he could not get the money to do the deal that day. They agreed on the next day (R 1100-1106).

The next day, Carmine and Petitioner arrived in Carmine's Corvette at Everything Automotive at about noon. They discussed the deal and Carmine agreed on two kilograms (R 106-108). Kennerknecht arrived a short time later in his Corvette and the others went over to talk to him. Bocchino arrived in a Toyota (R 110-111).

Bocchino got in Kennerknecht's Corvette and said that the keys to the Toyota were in it. Kennerknecht told Ilaria to look the Toyota over. Kennerknecht and Bocchino drove off. Ilaria told Petitioner and Carmine they would try to complete the deal that afternoon (R 112-114). Ilaria went back to work. After about an hour, he went to move the Toyota, opened the trunk, and saw a box containing the cocaine inside (R 115-122).

Ilaria called Carmine and told him that he was ready when Carmine and his money man were. At 4:00 Carmine said he was on his way. At 5:15 Kennerknecht and Bocchino arrived saying they were there to pick up the Toyota. Since Carmine wasn't there, Kennerknecht left. Bocchino stayed for awhile but then left in the Toyota at 5:45 (R 1128-1134).

Two minutes later, Petitioner and "Steve" (Detective Medley, undercover) arrived in Carmine's Corvette. Ilaria told them that the cocaine was gone but that he would call to try to get it back. Steve left to meet Carmine with the money, but Petitioner waited. Ilaria called Bocchino and told him to come back. He called Carmine and told him that the cocaine was on the way. Steve

returned and took Ilaria to see the money where Carmine was parked down the street (R 1134-1145).

When they returned to the lot, Bocchino was there. The Toyota was gone but the box of cocaine was under two cars. Ilaria took it over to Medley in the Corvette. Ilaria was standing by the side of the car when the police moved in and made the arrests. He couldn't see what Petitioner and Bocchino were doing at this point (R 1147-1156).

Ilaria decided to cooperate with the police the next day (R 1157).

Ilaria testified that he was surprised when Petitioner asked him if he could help with a deal for a kilo. Up until this point he knew only that Petitioner was a problem user of cocaine (R 1164-1165). Previously he had only seen Petitioner with amounts of one-fourth ounce or less for personal use (R 1191).

Detective Steve Medley, the undercover officer, testified that he was introduced by telephone to Petitioner by Carmine the day before the arrests (R 1815). Petitioner wanted to do the deal that day but Medley told him he couldn't get the cash together than (R 1818). They agreed on two kilos at \$20,000 per kilo (R 1820-1821).

The next day, Medley sent Carmine to meet Petitioner to find out where the car lot was. At 1:00 Carmine called and gave the location. A group of police officers then assembled to plan the bust (R 1823-1826).

Medley had Carmine call Petitioner and set up a preliminary meeting at an Embassy Suites Hotel about two miles from Everything Automotive. Medley drove a Corvette while Officer DiPerna, also undercover, followed in a Mercedes. At the hotel, Carmine

introduced Medley to Petitioner. Petitioner got in the Corvette and Carmine got in the Mercedes and they proceeded toward Everything Automotive with the Mercedes pulling off in a nearby shopping center before getting there. On the way, Petitioner told Medley that he had seen the cocaine in the trunk of the Toyota and that he had done deals with Ilaria before (R 1827-1837).

At the lot, Ilaria said that the cocaine was on the way back (R 1845). Petitioner told Ilaria that the money was in the Mercedes nearby (R 1846). Medley drove Ilaria over to see the money, then back to the lot. Kennerknecht and Bocchino were there in the Corvette. Ilaria pointed out the cocaine in the box under the car, then brought it to Medley and put it in the trunk of his car. When the police moved in Bocchino and Petitioner were not in sight (R 1858-1878).

Medley acknowledged in his testimony that he had attempted to arrange a drug deal with a Greg Spradlin, who was later mentioned in Petitioner's testimony (R 1942-1943).

The defense argued that Petitioner was a cocaine addict who had been entrapped (R 2088, 2097). Petitioner testified on his own behalf that he had never been involved in a drug deal before he met Carmine and that he had no intention of becoming involved in one. Petitioner had met Carmine through Tom Disenta, the son of Petitioner's then-employer, who had nagged Petitioner for over a month to set up a deal for a friend of Disenta's. Finally, Petitioner agreed to introduce Disenta to Greg Spradlin, from whom Petitioner had been purchasing cocaine for his own use for about a year. Petitioner had a cocaine problem and had been making \$40 to \$150 purchases from Spradlin, for his own use only (R 2101-

2105). Eventually Petitioner and Spradlin met Disenta at a Pizza Hut and were introduced to Carmine. Carmine said he was looking for five kilos. The next day, Carmine called Petitioner and said he was waiting with \$40,000 to make a purchase. Petitioner told him he could not help, that he had no way to contact Spradlin (R 2105-2108).

Petitioner gave Spradlin Carmine's number and Spradlin called Two days later Carmine called Petitioner, upset because him. nothing was happening with Spradlin. Carmine said he was going to send someone to beat up Spradlin. Petitioner believed it because Disenta had told him that Carmine was "connected." Petitioner was afraid that if he didn't help Carmine, he would do bodily harm to Petitioner or his family. Petitioner then contacted Ilaria because they used to use cocaine together and Petitioner sometimes bought from him, again for personal use (R 2109-2114). Petitioner took Carmine to meet Ilaria at Everything Automotive, and then arranged the meetings at the Raw Bar. Petitioner did this to get Carmine off his back. He was calling all the time and Petitioner was afraid of him. He made further threats about Spradlin (R 2114-2122). Although Ilaria told Petitioner he would receive \$1,000, Petitioner didn't want the money so much as he wanted Carmine off his back (R 2124-2125).

As the day of the arrests drew near, Carmine was insistent about doing the deal soon. Finally, Ilaria said he had found someone with the cocaine. The day before the arrests, Carmine called and introduced Appellant to Medley over the phone. Ilaria told Appellant to have Carmine meet him at Everything Automotive the next day to get the two kilos. Petitioner was very eager to

get the deal over with because he thought Carmine would then stop bothering him (R 2125-2128).

On the day of the deal, Petitioner was afraid. Carmine was upset and angry about the delays throughout the day. On the way to the lot, Petitioner lied to Medley when he told him that he had seen the cocaine in the trunk and that he had done deals before with Spradlin and Carmine. Petitioner wanted them to think that he wasn't wasting their time because they were very upset (R 21-37-2140).

Petitioner testified that he would not have become at all involved if Carmine hadn't pressured him (R 2145). He was entrapped (R 2148).

C. Jury selection issue.

The following facts are relevant to Point II in this brief:

The trial lasted three weeks (R 2786). Voir dire began with the impanelment of 21 prospective jurors (R 81-83). After challenges were exercised (R 554-572), the court excused all but five of the first panel. The court then impanelled 16 more prospective jurors (R 577-579). The court then recessed for the weekend (R 582).

Before voir dire continued after court resumed, the court stated that it would first question the 16 new panel members, and that the state and each defendant would then be limited to one-half hour for its questioning. Counsel for Petitioner objected, stating that one-half hour was not sufficient (R 585-586).

After excusing two panel members for cause and replacing them (R 598-609), the court questioned the new panel members for approximately two hours (R 609-745). Before continuing voir dire,

counsel for Petitioner renewed his objection to the time limit imposed upon him, stating that 30 minutes was insufficient to question 15 prospective jurors (R 746). After one more panel member was excused for cause (R 749-750), the prosecutor questioned the panel until the court called time (R 751-789).

Counsel for Petitioner then questioned the panel until the court called time (R 789-833). Counsel renewed his objection to the time limit and requested more time. He stated that the 30 minutes had been insufficient and that he had been unable to individually question five of the prospective jurors. In particular, counsel had not asked the five about entrapment. The court denied a request for additional time, as well as Petitioner's motion for mistrial (R 834-837). The transcript shows that defense counsel spoke individually to 13 of the new panel members (R 797, 798, 803, 804, 805, 806, 809, 815, 821, 824, 827, 829, 831).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

The new standard jury instruction on entrapment, and the statute upon which it is based, are unconstitutional. Under the Florida Constitution, both the instruction and the statute improperly shift the burden of proof to the defendant to prove entrapment. Under the United States Constitution, although the statute is not unconstitutional on its face, the jury instruction is unconstitutional because the jury is not also instructed that it must consider <u>all</u> the evidence in first determining whether the state has met its primary burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant has committed the crime charged.

II.

The trial court improperly limited the defense's voir dire questioning of the second group of prospective jurors impaneled to 30 minutes, or two minutes apiece. Such a time limit requires reversal where, as here, the defense is prevented from questioning some of the panel members on the crucial issue in the case, here the defense of entrapment, and where, as here, the trial is a long and complex one.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

INSTRUCTION 3.04(c)(2), FLORIDA STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS IN CRIMINAL CASES, AND SECTION 777.201(2), FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), BOTH APPLICABLE TO OFFENSES AFTER 1987, UNCONSTITUTIONALLY SHIFT THE BURDEN TO THE DEFENSE TO PROVE ENTRAPMENT.¹

A. Florida Constitutionality.

This Court in 1989, in response to the enactment of Section 777.201(2), Florida Statutes (1987), provisionally approved a new standard jury instruction shifting the burden of proof on entrapment to the defendant. In re Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 543 So.2d 1205, 1208 (Fla. 1989). The new instruction, tracking the statute, states, "On the issue of entrapment, the defendant must prove to you by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of entrapment." The old instruction stated, "On the issue of entrapment, the state must convince you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not entrapped."

This Court, in adopting the new standard instruction, explicitly declined to pass on its constitutionality or on the constitutionality of Section 777.201(2). In a footnote on page 1208 of this Court's opinion In re Standard Jury Instructions in

This question was certified to this Court because a similar issue was already pending in this Court in <u>State v. Krajewski</u>, Case No. 77,685. The argument in this brief under subheading B of this point on appeal is essentially the same as the argument of the defense in <u>Krajewski</u>. The argument here under subheading A, however, is not. The arguments here are also before this Court in <u>Deleon v. State</u>, Case No. 78,299 and <u>Herrera v. State</u>, Case No. 78,290.

Criminal Cases, supra, this Court noted that the statute does place the burden of proof of entrapment on the defendant, but stated that for the limited purpose of adopting the standard instructions the statute's constitutionality must be assumed. This Court stated, "The court deems it inappropriate to pass on the constitutionality of a statute except in adversary proceedings."

The instant case presents the constitutionality of the instruction and the statute in an adversary proceeding appropriate for a decision on constitutionality.

In the instant case, over defense objection (R 2393-2398, 2408-2410, 2622, 2673), the trial court instructed the jury in accordance with the new instruction placing the burden on the defendant (R 2654). The defense had specifically objected to the new instruction's placement of the burden of proof on Respondent. The defense also asserted entrapment as its defense (R 2048, 2088, 2097). The defense is entitled to have the jury correctly instructed on its theory of defense. Stiglitz v. State, 270 So.2d 410 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972). It is always the responsibility of the trial judge to correctly instruct the jury in each case, and the approval of a standard jury instruction does not relieve the trial judge of this responsibility. In the Matter of the Use by the Trial Courts of the Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 431 So.2d 594, 598 (Fla. 1981).

This Court's decisions on the previous versions of the standard entrapment instruction demonstrate that the new instruction and the statute are unconstitutional under the due process clause of the Florida Constitution because of the burden shift. Article I, Section 9, Florida Constitution. The Florida

due process clause offers greater protection to its citizens from police overreaching than does the Federal Constitution. State v. Glosson, 462 So.2d 1082, 1084-1085 (Fla. 1985).

First, in <u>State v. Wheeler</u>, 468 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1985), this Court adopted the following four-step statement of the burden of proof in an entrapment case:

- (1) the defendant has the burden of adducing any evidence of entrapment;
- (2) the trial court determines the sufficiency of the evidence of entrapment;
- (3) if the evidence of entrapment is sufficient the jury must be instructed that the state has the burden of disproving entrapment beyond a reasonable doubt; and
- (4) the jury should never be instructed on the defendant's burden of adducing evidence.

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