O47 FILER

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

1991

CASE NO. 78,535

PETER BRUNETTI,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER Bureau Chief, Senior Assistant Attorney General

JACQUELINE BARAKAT
Assistant Actorney General
Florida Bar No. #780707
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the defendant in a criminal prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the appellee and the prosecution, respectively, in the lower court.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court, except that Respondent may also be referred to as the State or the prosecution.

The following symbols will be used.

"R" Record on Appeal

Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis has been supplied by Respondent.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts Petitioner's "Statement of the Case" and "Statement of the Facts," to the limited extent that they are nonargumentative, as reasonably accurate synopses of the legal occurrences and the evidence adduced below, subject to the corrections, additions and clarifications contained in the argument portion of the brief.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

#### Point I

Since this issue was properly decided in <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), <u>rev. denied</u>, \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_, (Fla. Case No. 77,459 June 27, 1991), relied upon by the District Court in the instant case, this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to answer the certified question. Should the Court, however, decide to accept jurisdiction of the case, the State submits that the certified question must be answered in the negative for the following reasons.

Florida Standard Jury Instruction 3.04(c)(2), in allocating the burden of proving entrapment to the defendant, does not violate a defendant's constitutional rights since it does not relieve the State of its burden of proving beyond every reasonable doubt all the elements of the offenses charged. In proving an affirmative defense in a criminal case, such as entrapment, the burden of persuasion rests with the defendant, and the State is not obligated to prove the defendant's explanation untrue. Proof of the nonexistence of all affirmative defenses has never been constitutionally required.

#### Point II

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in imposing a time limit on voir dire examination where, in light of the particular facts in the instant case, no abuse of discretion has been shown, where the limitation was necessary to control unreasonably repetitious voir dire and where the court's general voir dire questions and jury charge afforded the protection sought by counsel.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

INSTRUCTION 3.04(c)(2), FLORIDA STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS IN CRIMINAL CASES, AND SECTION 777.201(2), FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), BOTH APPLICABLE TO OFFENSES AFTER 1987, DO NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY SHIFT THE BURDEN TO THE DEFENSE TO PROVE ENTRAPMENT.

As he did below, Petitioner argues that the standard jury instruction on entrapment, Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 3.04(c)(2), and §777.201, Fla. Stat. (1987), the statute on which the instruction is based, violate the Due Process Clause of the state and federal constitutions by placing on Petitioner the burden of proving entrapment by a preponderance of the evidence. The State disagrees, and points out that this precise issue was recently decided by the Third District in Gonzalez v. State, 571 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), rev. denied So.2d (Fla. No. 77,459 June 27, 1991), relied upon by the Fourth District in the instant case, and of which this Court declined to accept discretionary review. See also Krajewski v. State, 16 FLW D692, D693 (Fla. 4th DCA March 13, 1991), review granted, Case No. 77,685 (Fla. 1991), Herrera v. State, 580 So.2d 653 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) review granted, Case No. 78,290 (Fla. 1991) and Deleon v. State, 16 FLW 1390, (Fla. 4th DCA May 22, 1991), review granted, Case No. 79,299 (Fla. 1991), wherein the Fourth District "aligned" itself with the view expressed by the Third District in Gonzalez.

In Gonzalez, supra, contrary to the argument advanced by Third District Petitioner herein, the Court ofAppeal specifically held that the standard jury instruction tracking the language of the entrapment statute does unconstitutionally relieve the State of the burden of proving beyond reasonable doubt all elements of offenses charged. Citing Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S. 197, 211, 97 S.Ct. 2319, 2327, 53 L.Ed.2d 281 (1977), the Court pointed out that proof of the nonexistence of all affirmative defenses has never been constitutionally required. Further, the Gonzalez reiterated this Court's observation in Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 516, 518 (Fla. 1985) that the defense of entrapment is not of constitutional dimension. Consequently, the Gonzalez court opined that it saw "no reason not to treat entrapment like any other affirmative defense in Florida by placing the burden of proving that defense on the defendant." This reasoning is in accord with State v. Cohen, 568 So.2d 49 (Fla. 1990), wherein this Court held that "[a]n 'affirmative defense' is any defense that assumes the complaint or charges to be correct but raises other facts that, if true, would establish a valid excuse or justification or a right to engage in the conduct in question. An affirmative defense does not concern itself with the elements of the offense [which must always be proven by the State] but it concedes them." The State submits that the District Court below correct in following the thoughtful, well-reasoned and legally sound opinion of the Third District in Gonzalez, supra,

and, as such, the District Court's decision herein adopting the reasoning in Gonzalez should be approved by this Court.

Section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987), states as follows:

- (1) A law enforcement officer, a person engaged in cooperation with a enforcement officer, or a person acting as an agent of a law enforcement officer perpetrates an entrapment if for the purpose of obtaining evidence of the commission of a crime, he induces or encourages and, as a direct causes another person to engage conduct constituting such crime by employing methods of persuasion or inducement which create a substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one who is ready to commit it.
- (2) A person prosecuted for a crime shall be acquitted if he proves by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment. The issue of entrapment shall be tried by the trier of fact.

The above notwithstanding, because a defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of defense, the trial court complied with Petitioner's request for instructions on the affirmative defense of entrapment. During the charge conference, defense counsel asked the trial court to read a special jury instruction on entrapment which "...tracks the entire changed entrapment defense after October 1, 1987, except for the last paragraph." (R 2408-2409). In response the trial court stated he would read the entrapment instruction as currently promulgated by the Florida Supreme Court. (R 2405-

2408; 2409-2410). The State submits that the trial court was correct in reading the standard instruction on entrapment as recently amended by this Court. It is settled law that a trial judge should use the standard jury instructions where they are appropriate. Kelley v. State, 486 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1986); State v. Bryan, 290 So.2d 482 (Fla. 1974). And as recently stated in Hurtado v. State, 546 So.2d 1176-1177 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), unnecessary departures from the standard jury instructions may undermine the unquestionably beneficial effect of those forms on the Florida trial system as a whole. See also, Smith v. Mogelvang, 432 So.2d 119, 125 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983).

In addition to instructing the jury on reasonable doubt, the trial court in the instant case charged the jury on the issue of entrapment following Standard Jury Instruction 3.04(c)(2) as follows:

Entrapment: The definition of entrapment has been raised.

The Defendant Peter Brunetti was entrapped if, number one: He was, for the purpose of obtaining evidence of the commission of a crime, induced or encouraged to engage in conduct constituting the crime of trafficking in cocaine and/or conspiracy to traffic in cocaine.

And number two: He engaged in such conduct as the direct result of such inducement or encouragement.

And number three: The person who induced or encouraged him was a law enforcement officer or a person engaged in cooperating with, or acting as, an agent of a law enforcement officer.

And number four: The person who induced or encouraged him employed methods of persuasion or inducement which created a substantial risk that the crime would be committed by a person other than one who is ready to commit it.

And number five: The Defendant, Peter Brunetti, was not a person who was ready to commit the crime.

It is not entrapment if the Defendant, Peter Brunetti, had the predisposition to commit the crime of trafficking in cocaine and/or conspiracy to traffic in cocaine.

The Defendant, Peter Brunetti, had the predisposition if, (before any law enforcement officer or person acting for the officer persuaded, induced or lured Peter Brunetti), he had a readiness or willingness to commit trafficking in cocaine and/or conspiracy to traffic in cocaine if the opportunity presented itself.

It is also not entrapment merely because a law enforcement officer, in a good faith attempt to detect a crime:

- A. Provided the Defendant, Peter Brunetti, the opportunity, means and facility to commit the offense which the Defendant, Peter Brunetti intended to commit and would have committed otherwise.
- B. Used tricks, decoys or subterfuge to expose the Defendant, Peter Brunetti, to criminal acts, or
- C. Was present and pretending to aid or assist in the commission of the offense.

On the issue of entrapment, the Defendant must prove to you by a preponderance of the evidence that his

criminal conduct occurred as a result of entrapment (R 2652-2654).

Petitioner submits that the burden to prove predisposition must remain on the State where entrapment is raised in defense to a crime which has intent or state of mind as an element. The Petitioner, however, is mixing apples and oranges. The defendant in raising an affirmative defense never has a burden of proof but rather a burden of persuasion.

Petitioner in the instant case chose as an affirmative Petitioner therefore had the burden of defense entrapment. "Burden of proof" actually encompasses two separate persuasion. burdens. One burden is that of going forward with evidence. the party who has the burden of producing evidence does not meet that burden, the consequence is an adverse ruling on the matter The other burden is the burden of persuasion, which becomes crucial only if the parties have sustained their respective burdens of producing evidence and only when all the evidence has been introduced. It becomes significant if the trier of fact is in doubt; if he is, then the matter must be resolved against the party with the burden of persuasion. See McCormick, Evidence § 337 (3d Ed. 1984). Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570, 106 S.Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986); Cf. Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. , 110 S.Ct. \_\_\_, 111 L.Ed.2d 511 "It is well within the power of the State to regulate procedures under which its laws are carried out, including the burden of producing evidence and the burden of persuasion." See Patterson

v. New York, 432 U.S. 197, 97 S.Ct. 319, 53 L.Ed.2d 287 (1977). Florida's allocation to the defendant of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result on an entrapment is consistent with due process given the law in Florida concerning the burden of proving affirmative defenses.

The decisions of federal courts, even those of the United States Supreme Court, are not controlling or even necessarily persuasive in regard to the subject of entrapment in state courts. Bauer v. State, 528 So.2d 6 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Entrapment, whether it is recognized as a defense and, if so, how it is pleaded and the burden of proof in regard thereto, has so far remained exclusively within the rule-making and precedent-establishing authority of the particular jurisdiction that recognizes the defense. See Bauer v. State, 528 So.2d 6 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). The Bauer court, citing Moody v. State, 359 So.2d 557 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), stated as follows:

The federal view of the burden of proof on entrapment is not binding on the States because it is not based on any constitutional requirement. State v. Brown, 287 A.2d 400 (Del.Super. 1972). Thus, California requires by statute that the defendant prove entrapment by a preponderance of the evidence. People v. Moran, 1 Cal.3d 755, 83 Cal. Rptr. 411, 463 P.2d 763 (1970). Many states require the defendant to prove entrapment by a preponderance of the evidence before requiring the state to disprove entrapment beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Grilli, 304 Minn. 80, N.W.2d 445 (1975);State Amundson, 69 Wis.2d 394 (1972). Others

adhere to the typical view that a defendant has the burden of proving all affirmative defenses such as entrapment and by preponderance of the evidence without placing any burden at all upon the Commonwealth v. Wilkes, Pa.246. 199 A.2d 411 (1964), cert. den., 379 U.S. 939, 85 S.Ct. 344, 13 L.Ed.2d 349 (1969); State v. Rogers, 43 Ohio St.2d 28, 330 N.E.2d 674 (1975). The freedom of the states in this regard is illustrated in Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S. 197, 210, 97 S.Ct. 2319, 2327, 53 L.Ed.2d 281 (1977) where the Court said:

"We thus decline to adopt as imperative constitutional operative country-wide, that a State must disprove beyond a reasonable doubt every fact constituting any and all affirmative defenses related to the culpability of accused.... Proof of nonexistence of all affirmative defenses constitutionally never been required.... 359 So.2d at 560.

528 So.2d at 6.

As the United States Supreme Court stated in  $\underline{\text{Patterson}}$   $\underline{\text{v. New York, supra:}}$ 

It is normally within the power of the State to regulate procedures under which its laws are carried out, including the burden of producing evidence and the burden of persuasion, 'and its decision in this regard is not subject to proscription under the Due Process Clause unless' it offends some principle of justice so rooted in the traditions and conscience of our people as to be ranked as fundamental.

#### 53 L.Ed.2d at 287.

In determining whether Florida's allocation to the defendant of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment is

consistent with due process, this court must look to Florida case law with respect to the burden of proving affirmative defenses.

At common law the burden of proving affirmative defenses, indeed "all ... circumstances of justification, excuse or alleviation," rested on the defendant. 4 W. Blackstone Commentaries, Commentaries 201; M. Foster, Crown Law 255 (1762).

Mullaney v. Wilbur, 421 U.S. 684, 693-694, 95 S.Ct. 1881, 44

L.Ed.2d 508 (1975). This was the rule when the Fifth Amendment was adopted, and it was the American rule when the Fourteenth Amendment was ratified. Commonwealth v. York, 50 Mass. 93 (1845), as cited in Patterson v. New York, supra, 53 L.Ed.2d at 287.

In Florida, the burden of persuasion in proving an affirmative defense in a criminal case also rests with the defendant. 23 Fla. Jur. 2d <u>Evidence and Witnesses</u>, § 75 Affirmative Defenses; 29 Am.Jur.2d, <u>Evidence</u> § 156; <u>Priestly v. State</u>, 450 So.2d 289 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); <u>Evenson v. State</u>, 277 So.2d 587 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973); <u>Koptyra v. State</u>, 172 So.2d 628 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965).

As the Court in Koptyra v. State held:

While the State always has the burden of proving the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt and the accused never has the burden of proving his innocence, nevertheless, the burden of adducing evidence on the defense of entrapment is on the accused unless the facts relied on otherwise appear in evidence to such an extent as to raise in the minds of the jury a reasonable doubt of guilt.

172 So.2d at 632.

For an interesting analysis, see Martin v. Ohio, 480 U.S. 228, 107 S.Ct. 1098, 94 L.Ed.2d 267 (1986), which held that under the Ohio Revised Code, the burden of proving the elements of a criminal offense is upon the prosecution, but for an affirmative defense, the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence is placed on the accused. Self defense is an affirmative defense under Ohio law and therefore must be proved by the defendant.

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